70643-8

70643-8

No. 70643-8-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MANUEL JUAREZ-GARCIA,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

KATHLEEN A. SHEA Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

###

#### A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State alleged Manuel Juarez-Garcia raped his stepdaughter, E.L., four times over a four-month period, and that E.L. became pregnant as a result. At trial, Mr. Juarez-Garcia was convicted of a total of eleven charges for three separate acts of rape, one act of attempted rape, and one act of child molestation.

The State was required to prove each rape as a separate and distinct act. When the jury convicted Mr. Juarez-Garcia of three acts of rape, it found that each rape resulted in E.L. becoming pregnant.

However, evidence of only one pregnancy was presented to the jury, and the State offered no evidence regarding which of the acts described at trial, if any, resulted in her pregnancy. Because there was insufficient evidence for the jury's finding that each rape resulted in pregnancy, Mr. Juarez-Garcia's due process rights were violated.

In addition, the jury convicted Mr. Juarez-Garcia of three counts of second degree rape of a child, and made a separate finding that the child raped was under 15 years of age. Because both the conviction and aggravating fact were based on E.L.'s status, the jury's finding violated double jeopardy.

The jury's special verdicts must be vacated and the case remanded for resentencing.

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The jury's special verdict finding the complaining witness became pregnant three separate times as a result of three acts of rape was not supported by sufficient evidence and violated Mr. Juarez-Garcia's constitutional right to due process.
- The trial court erred in finding, contrary to the jury's verdict, that the charge in count IV alone resulted in the complaining witness's pregnancy.
- The trial court erred when it failed to set forth the reasons for its decision to impose an exceptional sentence in written findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by RCW 9.94A.535.
- 4. The convictions for second degree rape of a child and the jury's finding that the complaining witness was under age 15 at the time of the rapes violated double jeopardy.

#### C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

1. The due process provisions of the Fourteenth Amendment and of Article I, § 3 of the Washington Constitution require the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of the crime

charged. Under <u>State v. Hickman</u>,<sup>1</sup> elements added to the "to convict" instructions become the law of the case, which the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt. As instructed, the jury was required to find each act of rape separate and distinct from all other allegations. Did the jury's finding that the complaining witness was impregnated by each separate act of rape, in the absence of evidence to establish this beyond a reasonable doubt, violate Mr. Juarez-Garcia's right to due process?

2. It is constitutionally prohibited to prosecute a person two times for the same offense. The jury found Mr. Juarez-Garcia guilty of rape of a child in the second degree, and separately found that he had raped a child under age 15. Did it violate double jeopardy to convict Mr. Juarez-Garcia for both rape of a child and an aggravating fact based on the child's age?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

When Manuel Juarez-Garcia met and began dating Maria
Lopez, she had a young daughter, E.L. 5/29/13 RP 35. Mr. JuarezGarcia and Ms. Lopez never married, but they lived together and had
four children, whom they raised together with E.L. 5/29/13 RP 34. On
July 23, 2012, the family moved from California to Washington State,

<sup>135</sup> Wn.2d 97, 99, 954 P.2d 900 (1998).

where both parents worked twelve-hour days as farm labor. 5/29/13 RP 36-37.

In November 2012, when E.L. was 13 years old, E.L. reported to her school's secretary that Mr. Juarez-Garcia had sexually abused her. 5/29/13 RP 60; 5/30/13 RP 28. The authorities were called, and E.L. was later informed by a doctor she was pregnant. 5/30/13 RP 29. E.L. terminated the pregnancy and DNA testing of the fetus showed Mr. Juarez-Garcia was the father. 5/30/13 RP 30; 5/31/13 RP 57.

At trial, E.L. described five separate acts allegedly committed by Mr. Juarez-Garcia, which occurred between July 23, 2012, when E.L. arrived in Washington, and November 27, 2012, when E.L. made the report to the school secretary. 5/29/13 RP 36; CP 5. According to E.L., the first incident took place at a farm's camp, where the family was living at the time. 5/29/13 RP 77. Mr. Juarez-Garcia climbed into E.L.'s bed while she was sleeping, partially removed both of their clothes, and began moving while lying on top of her. 5/29/13 RP 78-85. She testified he quickly jumped back into his own bed when he heard her siblings return home. 5/29/13 RP 85. Based on this testimony, the jury found Mr. Juarez-Garcia not guilty of rape of a

child in the second degree, and guilty of child molestation in the second degree. CP 61, 102-03.

E.L. described a second incident, in which Mr. Juarez-Garcia picked up E.L. and her younger brother from school to take them to a doctor's appointment. 5/29/12 RP 89-90. Before the appointment, Mr. Juarez-Garcia took the kids back to the camp where they had lived, which was deserted during the off-season. 5/29/13 RP 96-97. When E.L's little brother left to play in the camp's playground, she alleged Mr. Juarez-Garcia climbed into the back seat next to her, partially removed both of their clothes, pressed his body against hers and started moving, causing pain inside her vagina. 5/29/13 RP 94, 99-110. When she attempted to get away, he hit her on the head. 5/29/13 RP 105. The jury found Mr. Juarez-Garcia guilty of rape in the second degree (forcible compulsion), rape of a child in the second degree, and child molestation in the second degree. CP 62, 96-98. It also found that E.L. was under age 15 at the time of the offense, and that she became pregnant as a result. CP 108, 111-112.

E.L. testified that a third incident occurred when she was released early from school for parent-teacher conferences. 5/29/13 RP 111-12. E.L. alleged Mr. Juarez-Garcia drove them to the parking lot

of a Food Pavilion, came into the back of the vehicle where she was sitting, and attempted to remove her pants. 5/29/13 RP 113-14. When a car parked nearby, he stopped and drove them home. 5/29/13 RP 114-15. The jury found Mr. Juarez-Garcia guilty of attempted rape of a child in the second degree. CP 65, 107.

The fourth incident allegedly occurred when E.L. went with Mr. Juarez-Garcia and three of her siblings to wire money to a family member at Fred Meyer. 5/29/13 RP 117-18. After they attempted unsuccessfully to run the errand, E.L. jumped back in the vehicle and playfully locked her younger siblings out. 5/29/13 RP 120. E.L. testified Mr. Juarez-Garcia offered her siblings money and sent them back into the store. 5/29/13 RP 119-121. Once they were gone, she alleged Mr. Juarez-Garcia climbed in the back of the vehicle with her, removed some of their clothes, and moved his body against hers, causing pain to the inside and outside of her vagina. 5/29/13 RP 121-24. He told E.L. that he would hit or kill her mother if E.L. told her mother what happened. 5/29/13 RP 125. The jury found Mr. Juarez-Garcia guilty of rape in the second degree (forcible compulsion), rape of a child in the second degree, and child molestation in the second degree. CP 63, 99-101. It also found E.L. was under 15 years old at

the time of the offense, and that she became pregnant as a result. CP 109, 111-12.

The final incident allegedly occurred when E.L. and her brother accompanied Mr. Juarez-Garcia to meet with a man about possible employment. 5/29/13 RP 130. Mr. Juarez-Garcia told E.L.'s brother to wait for them in the car. 5/29/13 RP 131. E.L. walked with Mr. Juarez-Garcia in an area with no buildings or people around. 5/30/13 RP 19-20. She alleged that when they started to walk back to the car, he grabbed her hand and pulled off her pants. 5/30/13 RP 21. He partially undressed them both, and moved his body against hers while standing behind her, causing pain to the inside and outside of her vagina. 5/30/13 RP 23. He told E.L. he would hit or kill her mother if she told. 5/30/13 RP 24. The jury found Mr. Juarez-Garcia guilty of rape in the second degree (forcible compulsion), rape of a child in the second degree, and child molestation in the second degree. CP 64, 104-06. It also found E.L. was under 15 years old at the time, and that this rape caused her to become pregnant. CP 110-12.

At sentencing, the State conceded that three of the convictions of child molestation merged with the rape convictions and that the second degree rape of a child convictions constituted the same criminal

conduct as the second degree rape convictions. 7/17/13 RP 172-73. Mr. Juarez-Garcia was sentenced to 116 months for the remaining child molestation conviction and 210 months to life for the attempted rape of a child conviction, to run concurrently with 40 years to life in prison for the second degree rape convictions. 7/17/13 RP 180-81; CP 117. The court imposed an exceptional sentence of 40 years based on the jury's finding that E.L. was under age 15 at the time of the rapes and "that the charge in Count 4 resulted in her pregnancy." 7/17/13 RP 181.

Mr. Juarez-Garcia appeals.

#### E. ARGUMENT

- 1. There was insufficient evidence for the jury's finding that E.L. became pregnant as a result of three separate acts of rape by Mr. Juarez-Garcia between July and November of 2012.
  - a. The State was required to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, three separate and distinct acts of rape.

The State bears the burden of producing sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of a crime charged. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); State v. Cantu, 156 Wn.2d 819, 825, 132 P.3d 725 (2006). A criminal defendant's fundamental right to due process is violated when a conviction is based upon insufficient evidence. Winship, 397

U.S. at 358; U.S. Const. amend. 14; Wash. Const. art. I, sec. 3; City of Seattle v. Slack, 113 Wn.2d 850, 859, 784 P.2d 494 (1989). When the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged, the Court must determine whether, after viewing the evidence most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the element or aggravated fact beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980); State v. Yates, 161 Wn.2d 714, 752, 168 P.3d 359 (2007).

Here, the "to convict" jury instructions properly directed the jury it must find each act constituting second degree rape "separate and distinct" from any other act constituting second degree rape in order to convict Mr. Juarez-Garcia, and gave the identical instruction regarding each charge of second degree rape of a child and second degree child molestation. CP 75-85. Thus, the jury was correctly prohibited from using one act by Mr. Juarez-Garcia to convict him of more than one count of second degree rape, second degree rape of a child, or second degree child molestation.

Elements added to the "to convict" instructions become the "law of the case," and the State is required to prove these elements beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Hickman</u>, 135 Wn.2d 97, 99, 954 P.2d 900

(1998). Because this "separate and distinct" element was added to the "to-convict" instructions, the State was required to prove it beyond a reasonable doubt.

b. Based on the evidence presented by the State, no rational trier of fact could have found that the three acts of alleged rape each resulted in pregnancy or that any one act, separate and distinct from the other, resulted in pregnancy.

The jury was instructed to answer special verdict forms if it found Mr. Juarez-Garcia guilty of second degree rape or second degree rape of a child. CP 95. The special verdict forms asked the jury to fill in the counts of second degree rape and second degree rape of a child on which it convicted, and answer whether the "crime" resulted in pregnancy. CP 111-12. The jury responded to these forms by filling in three counts of second degree rape of a child (counts II, V, X) and three counts of second degree rape (counts I, IV, IX), and answering "yes" to the question "Did the crime result in the pregnancy of a child victim of rape?" Id.

Therefore, the jury found that during each of the three acts of rape, E.L. became pregnant. Put simply, this was the jury's verdict:

E.L. was raped at the deserted camp prior to her doctor appointment.	E.L. became pregnant as a result.
E.L. was raped at the Fred Meyer parking lot after her siblings returned to the store.	E.L. became pregnant as a result.
E.L. was raped outside when she	E.L. became pregnant
accompanied Mr. Juarez-Garcia to a meeting regarding possible employment.	as a result.

No rational trier of fact could find E.L. became pregnant as a result of each act of rape. These rapes were alleged to have taken place between July and November 2012. 5/29/13 RP 36; CP 36-41. The State provided evidence at trial that E.L. had terminated only one pregnancy, and there was no evidence of miscarriages. 5/30/13 RP 30. Thus, the evidence showed E.L. became pregnant only once, preventing any possibility that E.L. was pregnant as a result of three separate acts.

The trial court recognized this inconsistency when it found, sua sponte, "that the charge in Count 4 resulted in [E.L.]'s pregnancy."

7/17/13 RP 181. According to the State's division of the charges during its closing argument, count IV charged Mr. Juarez-Garcia with second degree rape for the alleged assault of E.L. in the parking lot of Fred Meyer after her younger siblings ran back into the store. CP 63.

Despite the court's finding, there was no evidence presented at trial that E.L. became pregnant as a result of this alleged rape, or any of the other alleged rapes. The trial court's finding had no basis in evidence and was contrary to the jury's verdict, which found that E.L. had become pregnant as a result of all three acts of rape. CP 111-12.

In fact, the State successfully excluded any evidence of when E.L. became pregnant. 5/30/13 RP 74. Outside the presence of the jury, the nurse practitioner who collected the fetus for testing testified she was informed the fetus was 25 weeks on December 20, 2012, the date of the abortion. 5/30/13 RP 69, 71. If true, E.L. was in her first week of pregnancy on July 5, 2012, more than two weeks before the family arrived in Washington. 5/29/13 RP 36. The State had no evidence E.L.'s pregnancy was a result of the rapes alleged to have occurred in Washington, and no such evidence was presented to the jury. No rational trier of fact could have found that E.L. became pregnant as a result of one of the acts alleged at trial, much less all three acts.

c. The jury's finding of the aggravated fact must be reversed, with the case remanded for a new sentencing hearing.

At sentencing, the trial court followed the State's recommendation and imposed an exceptional sentence of 40 years to

life. 7/17/13 RP 181; CP 117. It based this exceptional sentence, in part, on the jury's finding that E.L. became pregnant as a result of the three counts of second degree rape and three counts of second degree rape of a child. <u>Id</u>. However, recognizing the evidence at trial failed to show E.L. became pregnant three times, the trial court assigned the pregnancy aggravator to one particular act, stating, "I have imposed an exceptional sentence in this case based on the jury's finding... that the charge in Count 4 resulted in her pregnancy." <u>Id</u>. Contrary to the requirements of RCW 9.94A.535, it failed to set forth its reasoning in written findings of fact and conclusions of law.

There was no evidence supporting the assignment of this aggravator to count IV or any other charge. Because the State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that E.L. became pregnant as a result of a specific act of rape alleged at trial, the jury's verdict as to this aggravating factor must be reversed, and the case remanded for resentencing. See Hickman, 135 Wn.2d at 99.

- 2. Mr. Juarez-Garcia's convictions for second degree rape of a child and the aggravating factor that E.L. was under 15 years of age violate double jeopardy.
  - a. Double jeopardy is violated where multiple convictions for rape involve a single incident against a single victim, and both crimes require proof of the victim's status.

The double jeopardy clauses of the state and federal constitutions protect against multiple prosecutions for the same conduct and multiple punishments for the same offense. U.S. Const. amend 5;<sup>2</sup> Wash. Const. art. I, § 9;<sup>3</sup> Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932); United States v. Dixon, 509 U.S. 688, 696, 113 S.Ct. 2349, 125 L.Ed.2d 556 (1993). A conviction and sentence will violate the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy if, under the "same evidence" test, the two crimes are the same in law and fact. State v. Adel, 136 Wn.2d 629, 632, 965 P.2d 1072 (1998); State v. Calle, 125 Wn.2d 769, 777, 888 P.2d 155 (1995).

On appeal, a claim of double jeopardy is reviewed de novo.

State v. Smith, 177 Wn.2d 533, 545, 303 P.3d 1047 (2013); State v.

Hughes, 166 Wn.2d 675, 681, 212 P.3d 558 (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Fifth Amendment provides in relevant part, "No person shall... be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb..."

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Article 1, § 9 provides in relevant part, "No person shall be compelled in any criminal case to... be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense."

Convictions for first degree rape and second degree rape of a child, which arise from a single incident, do not violate double jeopardy. Smith, 177 Wn.2d at 550. In Smith, the convictions arose from the same incident and were therefore the same in fact. Id. at 545. However, the court found that because first degree rape required proof of force, whereas second degree rape of a child required proof of the victim's status, the elements were dissimilar enough to satisfy the "same evidence" test. Id. at 548.

The court distinguished the facts in <u>Smith</u> to those presented in <u>State v. Hughes</u>, in which the defendant was convicted of both rape of a child in the second degree and rape in the second degree due to the victim's inability to consent by reason of physical helplessness or mental incapacity. 166 Wn.2d 675, 679, 212 P.3d 558 (2009). In <u>Hughes</u>, the court found that the "same evidence" test was not satisfied, because both convictions relied on the victim's status. <u>Id</u>. at 683-84. The two offenses were the same in fact, because they arose from a single act of intercourse with the same victim, and the same in law, because both crimes required proof of nonconsent due to the victim's status. <u>Id</u>. at 684. Convictions of both crimes violated double jeopardy

and the court remanded for vacation of one of the convictions. <u>Id</u>. at 686.

b. The conviction for second degree rape of a child, and the "special allegation" that E.L. was under 15 years of age both rely on proof of E.L.'s status and therefore violate double jeopardy.

The jury found Mr. Juarez-Garcia guilty of three counts of second degree rape of a child for three separate acts against the same alleged victim, E.L. CP 96, 99, 104. In order to convict Mr. Juarez-Garcia of rape of a child, the State had to prove: (1) he had sexual intercourse with E.L.; (2) E.L. was at least 12 years old, but less than 14 years old, at the time; (3) he was not married to E.L. and; (4) he was at least thirty-six months older than E.L. RCW 9A.44.076(1). For the same three acts against E.L., the jury convicted Mr. Juarez-Garcia of three counts of second degree rape, and answered the attached "special allegation" affirmatively, finding that E.L. was under 15 years of age at the time of the offense. See RCW 9.94A.837. Because both the conviction for second degree rape of a child and the aggravating fact that E.L. was under 15 years of age were based on E.L.'s status, finding

Mr. Juarez-Guilty of both violated his double jeopardy rights. <u>See Hughes</u>, 166 Wn.2d at 686.

In State v. Rice, the court distinguished between "sentencing enhancements" and "aggravating factors," finding that a "special allegation" is the former. 159 Wn. App. 545, 569, 246 P.3d 234 (2011). In Rice, the defendant argued his double jeopardy rights were violated when the jury found him guilty of first degree kidnapping, with a predicate charge of first degree molestation, and affirmatively answered the special allegation that the victim was under 15 years of age. <u>Id</u>. at 568-69. He argued that because the predicate felony involved a child less than 15 years old, he was punished twice for the same offense. Id. at 569. Division II disagreed, finding there was no violation of double jeopardy because the special allegation was a sentencing enhancement rather than an aggravating factor. Id. at 569-70. It based this finding on a determination that the special allegation raised the minimum standard sentence rather than allowing the trial court to impose an exceptional sentence outside the presumptive sentencing range. Id. at 569.

The <u>Rice</u> analysis was subsequently invalidated by <u>Alleyne</u>.

<u>Alleyne v. United States</u>, \_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 133 S.Ct. 2151, 2162, 186

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