·· 70643-8

70643-8

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

When E.L. went to Lillis, she realized that if the school decided to send her home, they may call Juarez-Garcia to come get her. 5/30 RP 28. She was scared that this may happen so she revealed to Lillis some part of what had been going on with Juarez-Garcia. 5/30 RP 28; 5/31 RP 23. Lillis told the school counselor who talked to E.L. and then called the police. 5/30 RP 28-29, 40, 90; 5/31 RP 23. Juarez-

Garcia was arrested that day. 5/29 RP 39, 40. The next day, E.L. was interviewed at the Child Advocacy Center. 5/30 RP 92, 130.

A few days after disclosing the abuse, E.L. was taken to the doctor where she was informed she was pregnant. 5/30 RP 29, 57. E.L. had an abortion a few days before Christmas. 5/30 RP 30, 57. With DNA obtained from the aborted fetus, E.L. and Juarez-Garcia, the Washington State Patrol Crime Lab determined that Juarez-Garcia was the father within a probability estimate of 99.99991 per cent. 5/30 RP 14, 78, 83-84, 134; 5/31 RP 53, 57.

Verdict, Judgment and Sentence

. .

The jury entered the following verdicts:

Count I, Rape in the Second Degree:

Guilty as Charged

Count II, Rape of a Child in the Second Degree:

Guilty as Charged

Count III, Child Molestation in the Second Degree:

Guilty as Charged

Count IV, Rape in the Second Degree: **Guilty as Charged**Count V, Rape of a Child in the Second Degree: **Guilty as Charged**Count VI, Child Molestation in the Second Degree: **Guilty as Charged**

Count VII, Rape of a Child in the Second Degree:

Not Guilty

Count VIII, Child Molestation in the Second Degree:

Guilty as Charged

Count IX, Rape in the Second Degree:

Guilty as Charged

Count X, Rape of a Child in the Second Degree:

Guilty as Charged

Count XI, Child Molestation in the Second Degree:

Guilty as Charged

Count XII, Attempted Rape of a Child in the Second Degree: **Guilty as Charged**

CP 96-107.

The jury found that, as to Counts I, IV, and IX, the victim was under the age of 15 at the time of the commission of each of those crimes. CP 108-110.

The jury found that, in committing the crimes of Rape of a Child against E.L., Juarez-Garcia's commission of that crime resulted in the pregnancy of E.L. CP 111.

The jury found that, in committing the crimes of Rape in the Second Degree against E.L., Juarez-Garcia's commission of that crime resulted in the pregnancy of E.L. CP 112.

Pursuant to the jury verdict, the court entered a finding that the victim was under 15 years of age at the time of each of the forcible rapes in Counts I, IV, and IX. The court imposed standard range sentences on Counts VIII and XII. The court imposed exceptional sentences of 40 years on each of the forcible rape charges based on

the jury's finding that the child victim was made pregnant by the rape. The court merged the molestation charges and thus did not impose sentences on them. The court found the child rape charges to be the same criminal conduct as the forcible rape charges and therefore did not impose sentence on them. 7/17 RP 179-180; CP 116-117; Supp. CP ___ (sub 92, Agreed Order Correcting Judgment and Sentence).

IV. ARGUMENT

,***

 There is sufficient evidence to sustain the jury's finding of the aggravating factor of pregnancy of child victim of rape.

Juarez-Garcia argues on appeal that there is insufficient evidence to support the jury's finding of the aggravating factor of pregnancy of child victim of rape. He argues insufficiency based on the fact that (1) it is factually impossible for all three acts of sexual intercourse to have jointly caused one pregnancy or alternatively that (2) the State was required to prove, but failed to prove, specifically which act of intercourse caused the conception. Br. App. 10-12.

The State concedes factual impossibility for three separate acts of rape that occurred on different days to jointly cause pregnancy.

As to the argument that the State was required to prove, but failed to prove, which specific act of intercourse caused the pregnancy, the State responds that (1) where multiple rapes of a child victim occur over a period of time, the State is not required to prove which specific rape led to the impregnation of the child and (2) under the circumstances in the present case, there is sufficient evidence to sustain the finding as to all three rapes that Juarez-Garcia's rape of E.L. caused her to be pregnant.

A. Where multiple rapes of a child victim occur over a period of time, the State is not required to prove which specific rape led to the impregnation of the child.

There is no support for the appellant's argument that in cases of multiple acts of rape within a short time frame the State is required to prove which specific act of rape caused the pregnancy of the child victim.

RCW 9.94A.535(i) provides for the possibility of a sentence outside the standard range where a jury finds beyond a reasonable doubt that "[t]he offense resulted in the pregnancy of a child victim of rape."

The State has found no cases regarding this aggravator.

The Legislature added pregnancy of a child victim of rape as a statutory aggravating circumstance in 1997. *Former* RCW 9.94A.390; SHB 1383. SHB 1383 established a statutory basis to seek restitution for pregnant victims of Rape of a Child in addition to adding the aggravating factor of pregnancy of child victim of rape.

"In construing a statute, the court's paramount duty is to ascertain and give expression to the intent of the Legislature." "To determine the intent of the Legislature, the court 'must look first to the language of the statute." "Where statutory language is plain and unambiguous, a statute's meaning must be derived from the wording of the statute itself."

State ex rel. Royal v. Bd. of Yakima County Comm'rs, 123 Wn.2d 451, 457-458, 869 P.2d 56 (1994) (quoting Service Employees Int'l Union, Local 6 v. Superintendent of Pub. Instruction, 104 Wn.2d 344, 348, 705 P.2d 776 (1985)); Condit v. Lewis Refrigeration Co., 101 Wn.2d 106, 110, 676 P.2d 466 (1984); Hama Hama Co. v. Shorelines Hearings Bd., 85 Wn.2d 441, 445, 536 P.2d 157 (1975); State v. Ervin, 169 Wn.2d 815, 820, 239 P.3d 354 (2010).

However, if a statute is subject to more than one reasonable interpretation, then it will be construed according to legislative purpose and intent. *State ex rel. Royal v. Bd. Of Yakima county Comm'rs*, 123 Wn.2d at 459; *State v. Jacobs*, 154 Wn.2d 596, 600-601, 115 P.3d 281 (2005). Furthermore, if a literal reading of the

statute "would produce an absurd and unjust result and would clearly be inconsistent with the purposes and policies of the act," then the Court should depart from that literal reading and engage in statutory construction." *State v. McDougal*, 120 Wn.2d 334, 351, 841 P.2d 1232 (1992) (citing 2A N. Singer, *Statutory Construction* § 45.12 (4th ed. 1984)). "[I]n construing a statute, 'a reading that results in absurd results must be avoided because it will not be presumed that the legislature intended absurd results." *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003) (quoting *State v. Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d 723, 733 (2003) (Madsen, J., dissenting)); *see also McDougal*, 120 Wn.2d at 350 ("Unlikely, absurd or strained consequences resulting from literal reading should be avoided.").

. .

Whenever there is a case of ongoing sexual abuse of a child, where the offenses occur in relative temporal proximity to each other, the State would never be able to prove which specific act led to the pregnancy. To construe this statute to require the State to prove which specific act out of many caused impregnation would lead to the absurd result that in cases with multiple rapes the court would be unable to impose an exceptional sentence for pregnancy whereas in a case with a single rape that led to pregnancy, the court would be able to do so. It would create a situation where the single offense

rapist is worse off than the multiple offense rapist. This cannot have been the Legislature's intention.

g f s

Here, E.L. testified that she had had no sexual relations with anyone other than Juarez-Garcia, she testified to every act of sexual intercourse that occurred with Juarez-Garcia, she testified that all of those acts occurred in the State of Washington, the State charged every act of sexual intercourse, and the jury rendered verdicts on all acts. Juarez-Garcia asserts in his briefing that "The State had no evidence that E.L.'s pregnancy was a result of the rapes alleged to have occurred in Washington, and no such evidence was presented to the jury." Br. App. at 12. This is clearly incorrect. E.L.'s testimony plus DNA evidence established that pregnancy could only have occurred in Washington, and only due to the charged rapes perpetrated by Juarez-Garcia.

Juarez-Garcia points out in his briefing that the jury was instructed to unanimously find, separately and distinctly, that each act of rape occurred. Juarez-Garcia then points out that the jury was instructed to determine whether "the crime" of second degree rape resulted in the pregnancy of the child victim and whether "the crime" of second degree rape of a child resulted in the pregnancy of the child victim. The jury answered "yes" to both questions. From here,

Juarez-Garcia concludes that "[t]herefore, the jury found that during each of the three acts of rape, E.L. became pregnant." However, this conclusion is not warranted. In comparing the special verdict forms for the enhancement of child under fifteen with the special verdict forms for the aggravator of pregnancy, one can see that with the "under fifteen" enhancement the jury did make that finding specific to each individual rape. However, in looking at the "pregnancy" aggravator, the jury concluded that the defendant impregnated his child victim of rape, without making that same specificity as to a particular count, or act, of rape. What the jury was instructed, and what they found, was that (A) Juarez-Garcia committed the act of rape against E.L. three times and (b) Juarez-Garcia made E.L. pregnant by raping her.

.

Juarez-Garcia provides no authority for his position that the State is required to prove which specific act of rape impregnated the child victim other than argument that the jury instructions somehow compel this result. The instructions, however, instruct the jury to find whether rape occurred on four separate occasions. Once the determination is made that rape occurred, regardless of how many times it occurred, then the jury was instructed to determine whether pregnancy resulted from Juarez-Garcia's rape of E.L.

Where, as here, there is no possibility that there was any other act of sexual intercourse, other than those alleged and proved by the State and found beyond a reasonable doubt by the jury that could have caused the pregnancy, then the aggravator has been proved.

. . .

B. Where multiple rapes of a child victim occur over a period of time, where the child becomes pregnant as a result, and where it is proved beyond a reasonable doubt that only the defendant committed the rapes and impregnated the child, then the evidence is sufficient to sustain a finding of the aggravating factor of pregnancy of a child victim of rape.

The "jury's special verdict finding the existence of an aggravating circumstance [is reviewed] under the sufficiency of the evidence standard." *State v. Chanthabouly*, 164 Wn. App. 104, 142, 262 P.3d 144 (2011), *rev. denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1018 (2012).

Under this standard, we review the evidence in the light most favorable to the State to determine whether any rational trier of fact could have found the presence of the aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt.

Chanthabouly, 164 Wn. App. at 143 (citing State v. Stubbs, 170 Wn.2d 117, 123, 240 P.3d 143 (2010) and State v. Yates, 161 Wn.2d 714, 752, 168 P.3d 359 (2007)).

RCW 9.94A.535(i) provides for the possibility of a sentence outside the standard range where a jury finds beyond a reasonable

doubt that "[t]he offense resulted in the pregnancy of a child victim of rape."

Here, the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that E.L. was not pregnant when she was first present in the State of Washington. E.L. had had her period in California and had also had her period in the State of Washington before she became pregnant. E.L. testified that only Juarez-Garcia had had sex with her and the first time that that happened was in the State of Washington. The State proved that the only possible sexual encounter that could lead to pregnancy occurred with Juarez-Garcia in the State of Washington. E.L. testified to every sexual act that occurred between her and Juarez-Garcia. The State charged all of those acts and the jury found those acts to be proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

The jury found that three acts of sexual intercourse occurred between E.L. and Juarez-Garcia. Certainly, one of those acts led to E.L.'s pregnancy.

The question on review, if this Court determines that the State is required to tie the pregnancy to a particular act, is whether, as to each of the three acts, or any one of the three acts, there is sufficient evidence for any rational juror to have found that that act caused the pregnancy. Where the only possibility is that Juarez-Garcia

impregnated the child victim during any one of the three acts of rape, then as to each of the three acts any rational juror could have found that to be the act that caused the pregnancy.

. ** *

C. The trial court did not err in imposing an exceptional sentence of forty years on the three forcible rape convictions based on the aggravating factor of pregnancy of child victim and remand is not required to enter written findings and conclusions.

Although the trial court did not enter written findings and conclusions, and although the trial court misspoke in conflating the jury finding on the sentence enhancement (victim under fifteen) with the jury finding on the aggravating circumstance (pregnancy), the record is clear that the trial court intended to impose an exceptional sentence on the forcible rape charges based on the pregnancy of the child victim.

"[W]here 'the trial court's <u>oral opinion and the hearing record</u> are sufficiently comprehensive and clear that written facts would be a mere formality,' the trial court's failure to enter mandatory written findings and conclusions is harmless." *State v. Bluehorse*, 159 Wn. App. 410, 422-423, 248 P.3d 537 (2011) (emphasis added, citations omitted).

Here, the prosecutor filed a written sentencing brief. Supp. CP (sub 80, State's Sentencing Brief). In the brief, the State noted that "[e]ach of the second degree rapes have a minimum sentence of 300 months or 25 years, per RCW 9.94A.507(3)(c)(ii). . . A single count of rape in the second degree by forcible compulsion, with a victim under fifteen results in a minimum of 25 years." Supp. CP (Sub 80, State's Sentencing Brief at p. 7). The State then requested a sentence of 40 years based on the victim's pregnancy. Supp. CP ____ (Sub 80, State's Sentencing Brief at p. 8). At the sentencing hearing, the prosecutor misspoke and referred to the enhanced sentence as being an exceptional sentence, although he cited to the correct enhancement statute (RCW 9.94A.507). The prosecutor correctly advised the court that pursuant to RCW 9.94A.507, the minimum sentence would be twenty five years. The prosecutor went on to recommend an exceptional sentence of forty years, whether by means of one forty-year sentence on one of the forcible rapes, or by running standard range sentences consecutively on the forcible rapes. 7/17 RP 173.

, 12. 14

The trial court adopted the State's recommendation to impose a forty year exceptional sentence. The court referred to the appellant's having taken advantage of a 13 year old child, using force on that child, "and to top it off, you made her pregnant." The court imposed forty years on each of the forcible rape convictions. 7/17 RP 180. The trial court then stated:

I have imposed an exceptional sentence in this case based on the jury's finding that the child victim was under the age of 15 as to all three rape counts and that the charge in Count 4 resulted in her pregnancy.

7/17 RP 181.

. . .

The written Judgment and Sentence indicates that the exceptional sentence is based on the aggravating factors as found by the jury. CP 116.

Taken as a whole, the trial court clearly intended to impose an exceptional sentence on all three forcible rape charges based on the aggravating factor of pregnancy of child victim of rape. The failure to enter written findings and conclusions is harmless and remand is not required.

- Double jeopardy is not violated where the defendant is convicted of forcible rape with an age-based sentence enhancement and also of rape of a child.
 - A. Where the sentence enhancement based on the child's age enhances only the forcible rape charge, and not the rape charge based on the child's age, double ieopardy is not implicated.

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